Agenda
For enquiries on this agenda, please contact:
Marian Morrison 020 8547 4623
email: marian.morrison@kingston.gov.uk
Published on 18 April 2019

Health Overview Panel
Date:

Tuesday 30 April 2019

Time:

7:30 pm

Place:

Guildhall, Kingston upon Thames

Members of the Committee
Councillor Munir Ravalia (Chair), Councillor Anita Schaper (Vice Chair), Councillor Sushila
Abraham, Councillor Kim Bailey, Councillor Mark Beynon, Councillor Olivia Boult,
Councillor Kevin Davis, Councillor Lesley Heap, Councillor Maria Netley, Councillor
Annette Wookey and Councillor Yogan Yoganathan
Advisory Members
Dr Liz Meerabeau – Kingston HealthWatch
Kate Dudley – Kingston Carers’ Network
Dr Jane D’Souza – GP Advisory Member

Everyone is welcome to attend the meeting
This agenda is available to view on: www.kingston.gov.uk
You can also access this agenda through the Modern.gov app or by scanning the QR
code with your smartphone.

2

AGENDA
Questions
There is a 20 minute question and answer session at the start of the meeting –advance
notice of questions is encouraged.

1.

Questions
To consider questions from the gallery on items which are not on the agenda

2.

Apologies for absence and attendance of substitute members

3.

Declarations of Interest

4.

Minutes
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 4 December 2018

5.

Dental Services and Oral Health in Kingston

Appendix A

To consider the report, scrutinise and make any recommendations
6.

Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board
To consider the minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on
15 November 2018

7.

Work Programme
Work Programme:
3 July 2019



8.

Health Screening
Update on CAMHS

Urgent Items authorised by the Chair

Appendix B

3
9.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

This item is included as a standard agenda item which will only be relevant if any exempt
matter is to be considered at the meeting:
To exclude the public from the meeting under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government
Act 1972 on the grounds that it is likely that exempt information, as defined in Part I of
Schedule 12A to the Act *, would be disclosed.
(*relevant regulatory paragraph to be indicated eg paragraph 1 for information relating to
any individual)
DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS
Meetings are held at the Guildhall, High Street, Kingston upon Thames and start at
7.30pm unless otherwise stated on the agenda.
Wednesday 2 October 2019
Thursday 12 December 2019
Wednesday 26 February 2020
Thursday 16 April 2020

4

Welcome to this meeting
The following information explains the way some things are done at the meeting.
Information about the Health Overview Panel
The Panel is made up of your local elected Councillors plus Advisory Members who have been coopted to represent specific interests. Its role is outlined below:
The Panel may review and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation
of the health service commissioned or delivered in this authority’s area. It may make reports or
recommendations to the Council, Health and Wellbeing Board or the appropriate Strategic
Committee, health bodies, other relevant agencies and providers of services on any matter it has
reviewed or scrutinised. The Panel may review:
 arrangements made by NHS bodies to secure hospital and community health services
to the local residents
 the provision of such services to local residents
 the provision of family health services, personal medical services
personal dental services, pharmacy and NHS ophthalmic services
 the public health arrangements in the area
 the planning of health services by NHS bodies, including plans made in co-operation
with local authorities, setting out a strategy for improving both the health of the local
population, and the provision of health care to that population
 the plans, strategies and decisions of the local Health and Wellbeing Board
 the arrangements made by NHS bodies for consulting and involving
patients and the public under the duty placed on them by Sections 242
and 244 of the NHS Act 2006
 any matter referred to the Panel by Healthwatch under the Health
and Social Care Act 2012
 social care services and other related services delivered by this authority.
The Panel may respond as a consultee to NHS bodies in respect of proposals for
substantial development of the health service in the authority’s area; and any proposals to
make any substantial variations to the provision of such services.
Public participation during the meeting
There is a Question Time of up to 20 minutes from 7.30pm – 7.50pm. Questions may be
submitted in writing before the meeting or handed in at the start of the meeting on the green
forms provided. (There are some green slips on the chairs and there are more copies.)
Please fill in the relevant part and hand this in to the Committee Secretary at the top table.
Questions sent in before the meeting will be answered at the meeting. Depending on officers
and health representatives present it may not be possible to answer questions handed in at
the meeting and these will be replied to in writing to the questioner where address or email
details are provided and members of the committee. The Chair may disallow any question
which, in his/her opinion, is scurrilous, capricious, irrelevant or otherwise objectionable.
Running order
Are you here for a particular item? Items may be taken in a different order depending on the
interests of the members of the public present at the meeting. Please fill out a pink form at

5
the start of the meeting and hand this to the Committee Secretary if you would like to request
that a particular item is heard earlier in the meeting.
Taking part in the meeting
During the course of the meeting, the Chair, at his/her discretion, may allow contributions, on
items listed on the agenda. To attract the Chair’s attention, please raise your hand.
Speaking at meetings
Speaking at a meeting can be a daunting prospect and every effort is made to make this as
easy as possible. Speech friendly arrangements will take account of people who may have a
speech impairment, e.g. they may have a stammer. If you have any individual requirements
or feel that standing or addressing the meeting may present a difficulty, please let us know
beforehand. Arrangements will be made to help you as far as reasonably possible.
Accessibility






All meetings have access for people who may have mobility difficulties. If there are stairs, a
lift or stairlift is available. Disabled parking spaces are available on site.
Toilet facilities will be easily accessible from the meeting room.
For people who are deaf or have hearing impairments, there is an induction loop (depending
on the building, this may only be available in the first 2 or 3 rows).

A large print copy of the agenda can be requested in advance.

Emergency evacuation arrangements
If the fire alarm sounds, please leave the building by the nearest exit. If you require assistance,
please remain seated and an Officer will assist you from the building.
Webcasting of the meeting
This meeting will be webcast live on https://kingston.public-i.tv/core/portal/home and a recording
will also be available to watch back a few hours afterwards. Recordings are accessible for a period
of 12 months. Members of the public sitting in the public seating area will not generally be in direct
camera shot but we cannot always guarantee this so please note that, by attending the meeting
you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings
for webcasting and/or training purposes.
Filming
Residents and journalists/media wishing to film meetings are permitted to do so but are asked to
give advance notice of this and respect any concerns expressed by people on being filmed.
Interests
Councillors must say if they have an interest in any of the items on the agenda. Interests may be
personal or pecuniary. Depending on the interests declared, it might be necessary for the
Councillor to leave the meeting. The detail on interests is in Part 5A of the Constitution Members’ Code of Conduct.
Minutes
Unlike minutes of other committees the Panel’s minutes capture the item and main points of
discussion and record any decision or recommendations agreed by the Panel at the meeting.

Health Overview Panel

A1

Appendix A

30 April 2019
Dental Health Services and Oral Health in Kingston
Report by the Director of Public Health

Purpose
To inform the Panel of current arrangements regarding general dental services and oral
health promotion in Kingston, highlighting gaps in provision and identifying future areas
of work.
Recommendation - the Panel
1. Considers the contents of this report;
2. Scrutinises the work to date against the recommendations of the JSNA and
Children's Oral Health Survey; and
3. Make recommendations regarding any other actions that the Panel feels are needed
to ensure we are targeting the right groups in Kingston.

Key Points
A.

This report presents an overview of how general dental and oral health promotion
services are commissioned and organised locally.

B.

A summary of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) chapter on children’s
oral health and the Children’s Oral Health Survey is provided along with links to
the full reports.

C.

An update on progress against the recommendations from the JSNA and survey is
provided together with plans for future work.

Introduction
1.

Poor oral health can lead to pain and discomfort, sleepless nights, loss of function
and self-esteem, and in turn affect quality of life and overall wellbeing. Oral health
is also linked to chronic diseases. Tooth decay and obesity may be more likely to
occur together and poor oral health is associated with poor diabetic control and
lung diseases among the frail and elderly.

2.

The impact of disease, and treatments such as fillings, can last a lifetime. Dental
decay and gum disease are the most common oral conditions, and are largely
preventable. The cost to the NHS of treating oral health conditions is around £3.4
billion per year.

3.

Local authorities are statutorily required to provide or commission oral health
promotion programmes to improve the health of the local population, to an extent
that they consider appropriate in their areas. The risk factors for poor oral health
overlap with those for other public health issues so it is important that oral health is
not promoted in isolation, but as part of a comprehensive approach to improving
overall population health.

Commissioning of Dental Services

A2

4.

NHS England is responsible for commissioning NHS dental services in England,
including community, specialist and out of hours services to cover both routine and
urgent care. This does not include private dentists, although many dentists will
offer a mixture of NHS and private care.

5.

Any treatment that, in the dentist’s opinion, is clinically necessary to protect or
maintain good oral health is available on the NHS, however most people will pay a
contribution towards this. Information regarding the charges and how these are
calculated can be found on the NHS Website. The following groups of people are
entitled to free NHS dental care:
● under 18, or under 19 and in full time education
● pregnant or have had a baby in the past 12 months
● being treated in an NHS hospital and care is provided by the hospital
dentist (except dentures and bridges)
● receiving low income benefits or if under 20 and a dependent of someone
receiving low income benefits.

6.

You do not need to register with a dentist in the same way as with a GP because
there is no catchment area for dental practices. However, there is disparity across
the country in terms of accessibility of dentists and therefore some people may
experience long waiting times. Locally, there are approximately 26 dental practices
in Kingston offering NHS dental care and, according to a recent child dental survey
in the borough (see below), access to these is relatively easy for the majority of
respondents.

Oral Health Promotion and Tackling Inequalities
7.

While NHS England, as commissioner of dental services, has some responsibility
for tackling inequalities, the main responsibility for oral health promotion rests with
local authorities.

8.

In response to this, a number of boroughs across South London, including
Kingston, have funded an oral health promotion service. This service is
commissioned by NHS England on behalf of these boroughs and is delivered by
Kings College Hospital. The service provides oral health promotion interventions
targeting those at greatest risk of poor health outcomes. In Kingston,
commissioners have recently begun meeting with the leads for this service to
monitor progress and ensure the service is meeting local need.

9.

Traditionally, the local oral health promotion service has focussed on direct
delivery of oral health promotion messages to children and families in early years
settings and schools. However, in Kingston we have encouraged a move towards
more sustainable approaches that involve this service training professionals within
child health services to deliver universal oral health messages themselves to
enable the oral health experts to focus their efforts on more targeted work with
those who are more vulnerable. Progress on this is still in the early stages.

Children’s Oral Health
10.

Tooth decay in children can lead to a range of complications, such as chronic pain,
speech difficulties and missed days from school, that may impact throughout a

A3
child’s life and even into adulthood. In the UK tooth extractions are the commonest
reason for hospital admissions amongst 5 to 9 year olds and, in 2015/16, cost the
NHS in England approximately £50.5m.

11.

In August 2018, Kingston Public Health published a joint strategic needs
assessment (JSNA) chapter on children’s oral health. This was undertaken in
response to data showing a decline in the oral health of children in Kingston. The
aim was to better understand the local data, identify gaps in service provision and
establish the needs of this population group going forwards (see Appendix 1 for
the full JSNA chapter). Key issues from this needs assessment included:
a. Kingston has some scope to improve outcomes for children.
Whilst Kingston has a similar amount of tooth decay experience to the
national average and is better than the London average, there is a higher
rate of hospital admissions for tooth extraction.
b. Preventative advice could reach some families earlier and could be more
comprehensive.
There is low uptake of dental services among younger children, and
preventative advice may not be reaching parents early enough. In
particular, some parents say they have not been advised about what foods
and drinks are best to keep children’s teeth healthy.
c. The local environment is not always helpful for oral health.
Parents find it difficult to restrict their child’s sugar intake, especially when
they are in school.
d. Kingston’s demography and ethnically diverse population mean it is
important to ensure systems are in place for oral health advice to reach all
Kingston’s communities.

12.

To further inform the JSNA chapter, Public Health Kingston conducted a survey
with parents in the borough to gather their views and experiences of the impact of
children’s oral health on local families, their confidence in managing the oral health
of their children and the experiences of and levels of satisfaction with local dental
services (see Appendix 2 for the full report on this survey). Key issues from this
included:
a. Almost half of local parents (46%) said their child had had at least one
problem with their oral health over the past six months. The commonest
reported were problems with the appearance of their teeth, mouth or gums.
b. Just under one in three parents (32%) had felt stressed or anxious about
their child’s oral health in the last six months.
c. Although 75% of parents said that it was easy to access dental care in
Kingston, only 60% thought that it was easy to access oral health advice.
Parents of younger children were less likely to say that it was easy to
access dental service or oral health advice. Participants who found it
difficult to access services commented that there was a limited choice of
NHS dentists, that it was necessary to travel to be able to access an NHS
dentist and that there was a long waiting time to see an NHS dentist.

A4
d. Parents of younger children were less likely than others to say they had
been given the right oral health advice and less confident than others about
how to look after their child’s oral health. Only seven in ten parents of 1 - 4
year olds had been given advice about how often to visit the dentist.

e. Only 55% of parents said they had been given advice about what kinds of
food and drink their child should be consuming.
f. Seven in eight parents said their child had been to the dentist at least once.
The commonest age to start going to the dentist was two years old, which is
older than the age recommended by Public Health England for a first visit.
More than a third did not go to the dentist until they were three or older.
g. Among those who had used dental services, nine in ten said that their
child’s experience had been good or very good. The aspects of dental
services with the most scope for improvement were length of wait for a
routine appointment, and the child-friendly nature of the practice.
13.

Recommendations arising from the JSNA chapter on children’s oral health
included:
a. Health Visitors, GPs, pharmacists and other healthcare professionals

should ensure proactive oral health advice is incorporated into routine
appointments and visits for young children.
b. Schools and children’s centres should incorporate oral health advice and a

good environment for oral health as part of their work towards Healthy
Schools and Healthy Early Years accreditation.
c. All those who offer oral health advice should ensure it includes advice about

what foods and drinks a child should be consuming and when to visit the
dentist for the first time, as well as about toothbrushing and frequency of
visits to the dentist.
d. Dentists should prioritise prevention of decay for young children by
ensuring routine appointments are available for families, including those
with young children, and considering how to make their practices more
child-friendly.
Access to a Dentist by People who are in Urgent Housing Need/No Fixed Abode
14.

A needs assessment of 248 ‘help seeking’ (i.e. contacting local services for advice
and support) individuals in 2011/12, assessed their access to health services. The
locations used were:RBK drop-in centre, resettlement and Job Centre Plus; Drug
and alcohol treatment and recovery services (DIP, RISE, CRI, YP services); Local
charities for vulnerable adults (YMCA, St Peter’s Church, MIND Kingston, KCAH)

15.

28% (65 individuals) of this cohort had an urgent housing need with No Fixed
Abode (NFA), 90% of whom were aged 20-59 years, and two-thirds were men.

16.

71.3% of all help-seeking respondents had a dentist. The average time since last
visit to dentist (if registered) was 10.9 months. Amongst people with housing
problems/NFA, this percentage was 68.2% with an average time since last visit of
10.7 months. If all people with housing problems/NFA were looked at, regardless
of registration with dentist, the average time since last visit was 19.8 months.

A5

17.

This frequency of access in 2011/12 is slightly higher than the frequency of visits
to a dentist by children, with three in five (63.4%) children aged under 18 in
Kingston having visited an NHS dentist in the last two years (up to March 2017).

What has changed?
18.

In response to the findings of the JSNA and parental survey, Kingston Public
Health has worked closely with colleagues from the Oral Health Promotion Service
and 0-19s team to:
a. Ensure Health Visitors (registered nurses and midwives who have
additional training in community public health nursing to provide a proactive,
universal service for children aged 0-5 years) distribute toothbrush packs:
i.

at the mandated 1 year and 2.5 year health checks.

ii.

at other appropriate times, for example during talks on weaning and
introducing solids, during drop-in clinics where oral health is
discussed

iii.

to all families considered to be more vulnerable to health inequalities
and where more intensive work is being undertaken

b. Ensure targets around the reduction of tooth decay are introduced into the
specifications for school health and health visiting.
c. Ensure colleagues from the school health and health visiting teams are
trained to deliver evidence based interventions with consistent and up to
date messaging.
d. Ensure colleagues in school health are equipped with the skills to deliver
messages to schools regarding healthy food and drink policies and lesson
plans around this topic.

Plans for the Future
19.

Plans for future work around this area include:
a. Further investigation of the needs of other vulnerable population groups in
Kingston, such as Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) and Gypsy
Roma Traveller (GRT) communities and the homeless population.
b. The oral health promotion service are continuing to develop their ‘train the
trainer’ model to ensure more services are able to deliver universal oral
health promotion messages themselves and free the capacity of colleagues
in this service to focus their efforts on the most vulnerable children and
families.
c. Further links need to made with the Healthy Schools and Healthy Early
Years London initiatives to embed oral health as a key priority area for local
settings.
d. Continue to deliver on the recommendations of the JSNA chapter on
children’s oral health - adopting the strategic approach to children’s oral
health in Kingston to create an oral-health friendly environment, strengthen

A6
individual and community skills to support oral health and ensuring dental
services take a preventative approach.

e. Continue to promote access to health services, including dental services to
people with an urgent housing need/NFA, using drop-ins and health days
as mechanisms to engage with this harder-to-reach population.

Author of Report - Amy Leftwich, 0-19 Public Health Services Commissioner, Kingston
Public Health, amy.leftwich@kingston.gov.uk; Tel: 020 8547 6810

Weblinks for Further Information

A7

Kingston
Dentists in Kingston (Kingston CCG leaflet)
https://www.kingstonccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Publications%20folder/Leaflets/Kingston%20
dental%20leaflet.%20pdf
Kingston Joint Strategic Needs Assessment - Children’ Oral Health (2018)
https://data.kingston.gov.uk/jsna-childrens-oral-health/
Kingston Children’s Oral Health Survey (2017-18)
https://data.kingston.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/JSNA_childrensoralhealthsurve
y201718.pdf
NHS
Which dental treatments are available on the NHS?
https://www.nhs.uk/common-health-questions/dental-health/which-dental-treatments-areavailable-on-the-nhs/
Dental Charges
https://www.nhs.uk/common-health-questions/dental-health/how-much-will-i-pay-for-nhsdental-treatment/
Further general information
https://www.nhs.uk/common-health-questions/dental-health/which-dental-treatments-areavailable-on-the-nhs/#further-information
Public Health England
Oral Health Improvement Programmes Commissioned by Local Authorities, Public Health
England, 15 May 2018
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment
_data/file/707180/Oral_health_improvement_programmes_commissioned_by_local_auth
orities.pdf
Parliament
Child Oral Health, Parliamentary Research Briefing, 27 October 2017
http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CDP-2017-0201/CDP-2017-0201.p
df

1

Kingston JSNA Factsheet: children’s oral health
Key facts

One in 100 children aged
5 -9 years (1.16%) in
Kingston had a tooth
removed under general
anaesthetic in 2016-17.

Three in four (75%) parents think
it’s easy to access dental
services for children in Kingston

1. There is some scope to
improve outcomes.
Kingston has a similar rate
of child tooth decay
experience to the national
average, though better than
London average. There is
also a higher rate of hospital
admissions for tooth
extractions..

3. The local environment is
not always helpful for oral
health. Parents find it difficult
to restrict their child’s sugar
intake, especially when they
are in school.

Three in five (60%) think
it’s easy to access oral
health advice

46% of parents say they’ve had at
least one problem with their child’s
oral health in the last six months
Parents of younger children are less
likely to say they’ve had oral health
advice than parents of older children

Three in five children aged under 18
in Kingston have visited an NHS
dentist in the last two years

2. Preventative advice
could reach some families
earlier and could be more
comprehensive. There is
low uptake of dental
services among younger
children, and preventative
advice may not be reaching
parents early enough. In
particular, some parents say
they haven’t been advised
about what foods and drinks
are best to keep children’s
teeth healthy.

4. KIngston’s demography
and ethnically diverse
population mean it is
important to ensure
systems are in place for
oral health advice to reach
all Kingston’s
communities.

A8

More than one in five children
(21.5%) in Kingston has tooth decay
by their first year of school at age five

Key issues for Kingston

2

Kingston JSNA Factsheet: children’s oral health
Why does it matter?
For 5 to 9 year olds in the UK, tooth extractions are the
commonest reason for hospital admissions.
Tooth extractions for children cost the NHS in England
£50.5m in 2015-16.

How can tooth decay be prevented?
1. Creating oral-health friendly policies and
environments
Creating an environment that’s friendly to everyone’s
Risk factors for tooth decay (dental caries) are related to
oral health can help to reduce tooth decay and oral
risk factors for other long term conditions including heart
health inequalities. For example, making sure there is
disease, respiratory diseases and diabetes. These are
access to fluorides has been shown to reduce tooth
all affected by the wider environment and social and
decay and to narrow the gap in decay rates between
economic conditions. For example, children who eat a
deprived and less deprived children. Other
poor diet high in sugar and calories are at higher risk of
environmental measures for oral health include reducing
both obesity and tooth decay. This also means that
children’s sugar consumption through both national
social and environmental inequalities can lead to
policy measures like the sugar levy and local work to
inequalities in oral health.
change the kinds of snacks on offer in schools and
shops. Programmes like Healthy Schools and Healthy
Tooth decay is caused by acid produced by bacteria in
Early Years, which include advice on healthy nutrition
the mouth as they break down sugar.
and availability of water, are intended to make these
environments healthier for all children.

Who is at risk?

In all children, tooth decay is preventable by reducing
the frequency and amount of sugar they eat, increasing
the availability of fluorides, brushing teeth twice a day
and visiting the dentist at least once a year.
The latest detailed advice about reducing sugar can be
found on the Change4Life website, while NHS Choices
also has advice about how to brush teeth at home, and
what to expect when going to the dentist.

A9

Tooth decay in children can lead to:

Any child can develop tooth decay once their teeth
2. Strengthening community action and developing
emerge and they move on from breast or formula milk to personal skills for oral health
solid foods, but risks are higher for:
Local families can be supported to keep their children’s
●
Children who eat a poor diet (frequently eat teeth healthy if they have the right knowledge, skills and
foods high in sugar)
confidence. This can be achieved by training the
●
Children who don’t brush their teeth with
frontline workforce on oral health so they can enable
fluoride toothpaste
and empower parents to look after their children’s teeth.
●
Children from deprived backgrounds
●
Children who do not access dental services It’s recommended to take babies to the dentist as soon
early to receive preventative advice.
as their first teeth erupt. This gives them chance to get
●
Children with special needs or who are
used to the dental environment and means their parents
medically compromised
can get good advice from the start. Breastfeeding up to
12 months is also associated with a lower risk of tooth
Looked-after children and those with additional needs
decay.
are particularly vulnerable to many health problems, and
dental neglect may be a particular risk.

But oral health doesn’t need to be promoted in isolation.
The Common Risk Factor Approach identifies links
between common risks to oral health and general
health. Work to address the root causes of obesity,
cardiovascular diseases and cancers should also
consider how to promote oral health. This applies to all
services, including antenatal services.

3

Kingston JSNA Factsheet: children’s oral health
3. Reorienting healthcare services towards
prevention

Public Health England’s advice is that:
●

●
●

Children and families should be asked about
their diet, and should be given advice
including about breastfeeding, toothbrushing
and reducing sugar consumption.
All children aged over three should have
fluoride varnish applied twice a year.
Visiting the dentist as soon as the first teeth
erupt to receive preventative advice from an
early age and establish healthy habits

A10

It’s important that all health and care workers are giving
the right, consistent advice about how to maintain oral
health, and comprehensive preventative programmes
have been shown to be effective. Dental teams have a
central part to play as part of a wider health and care
system.

4

Kingston JSNA Factsheet: children’s oral health
Oral health for children in Kingston

An estimated 40% of 0-11 year olds in Kingston in 2016
were from a Black, Asian or minority ethnic (BAME)
background and an additional 10% are from an Other
White background. The single largest ethnic minority
group was the Other Asian category, with an estimated
3,285 children aged 0-11.

Among a small sample of twelve year old children
attending special schools, the proportion with tooth
decay was 36.4% in Kingston in 2014. This was not
significantly different to the percentage in England
(29.2%) or London (23.2%).

A11

Kingston’s population and future need
In 2016, there were 27,397 children under 12 (11,694
aged 0-4 and 15,703 aged 5-11) living in Kingston,
together making up 16% of the borough’s population.
The population of under 12s is expected to reduce to
27,325 by 2026.

A total of 11% of children under 16 in Kingston were in
low income families in 2015. This is lower than the
percentage in England (16.8%) or London (18.8%).
Tooth decay
Kingston has lower rates of tooth decay in young
children than London as a whole.
In 2012-13, just under 1 in 16 (6.2%) three year olds in
Kingston had tooth decay experience (decayed, missing
or filled teeth), lower than the percentage for England
(13.6%) or London (11.7%).
In 2016-17, more than 1 in 5 (21.5%) five year olds in
Kingston had tooth decay experience. This rate is not
significantly different than the average for England or
neighbouring boroughs, but is significantly lower than
the figure for London overall (25.7%)
The proportion of five year old children with tooth decay
experience in London has improved since 2007-08.

Source: Dental Public Health Intelligence Programme survey of five year old children

5

Kingston JSNA Factsheet: children’s oral health
Dental extractions
Kingston has a relatively high rate of hospital
admissions for tooth extractions among children aged
0-19 compared to England as a whole. This issue is
common in London.

There is variation around the borough in the rate of
access to NHS dentists. Tudor ward has the highest
access rates, with 72.6% of children under 18 accessing
an NHS dentist in the two years up to March 2017; St
Mark’s ward has the lowest access rates, with 46.7% of
Among 0 - 5 year olds, the figure is only two in five
children under 18 accessing an NHS dentist in the same
(37.7%). Lower dental access rates for younger children period.
are common across London and England as a whole.
Local data shows there is no clear relationship between
dental access rates and deprivation (as measured by
the percentage of children in low income households).
However, we know from UK and international evidence
that factors influencing uptake of dental services can
include:
●
parents’ education, socioeconomic status
and beliefs
●
fear of the dentist
●
ethnicity
Experiences of Kingston families
An informal online survey [link] of more than 100 local
parents (not necessarily representative of Kingston’s
population) conducted by Kingston’s public health team
in 2017-18 found that:
Almost half of local parents (46%) said their child had
had at least one problem with their oral health over the
past six months. The commonest reported were
problems with the appearance of their teeth, mouth or
gums.

Source:
Hospital
Episode
Statistics

Just under one in three parents (32%) had felt stressed
or anxious about their child’s oral health in the last six
months.
Three in four (75%) parents said that it was easy to
access dental care for children in Kingston, and 60%
said that it was easy to access oral health advice.

Parents of younger children were less likely than others
to say they had been given the right oral health advice
and less confident than others about how to look after
their child’s oral health. Only seven in ten parents of 1 4 year olds had been given advice about how often to
visit the dentist.
Only 55% of parents said they had been given advice
about what kinds of food and drink their child should be
consuming.

A12

In 2016-17, one in every 100 (1.16%) 5 - 9 year olds in
Kingston had a tooth removed under general
anaesthetic. The number of hospital admissions for
tooth extraction for this age group in Kingston has
increased since 2011-12.

Dental access
Three in five (63.4%) children aged under 18 in Kingston
have visited an NHS dentist in the last two years (up to
March 2017).

Seven in eight parents said their child had been to the
dentist at least once. The commonest age to start going
to the dentist was two years old, which is older than the
age recommended by Public Health England for a first
visit. More than a third did not go to the dentist until they
were three or older.
Among those who had used dental services, nine in ten
said that their child’s experience had been good or very
good. The aspects of dental services with the most
scope for improvement were length of wait for a routine
appointment, and the child-friendly nature of the
practice.
Qualitative research conducted with children and
parents from HealthWatch Kingston found that:
●
●

●

●

Dentists who were seen as “child-friendly”
were considered to be especially helpful
Children and parents had a good
understanding of what foods and drinks are
best for oral health, but parents found it
difficult to monitor and control how much
sugar their children were eating, particularly
when they went to school
Children and parents knew the importance of
regular toothbrushing, but not all were aware
of good toothbrushing technique
Some parents had had problems accessing
NHS dental care because practices were
oversubscribed

6

Kingston JSNA Factsheet: children’s oral health
What support do we already have in place?

King’s College Hospital Community
Special Care Dentistry provides a referral
service for children with special needs
across South West London and an oral
health promotion service which offers
training and gives advice to parents,
schools and community groups. Any
professional can refer a child with special
needs to the community dentistry service the referral doesn’t have to come from a
dentist.

Health Visitors and School Nurses give oral
health advice as part of their routine checks
and visits.

Online advice about oral health is available
from NHS Choices.
NHS 111 can connect families to an
emergency dentist

King’s College Hospital Oral Health
Promotion service is offering training on
oral health to the wider workforce,
including those working with communities,
and supporting school nurses and health
visitors with their work to ensure children
and families get toothbrushing packs and
oral health advice.

School nurses will begin collecting
information about oral health as part of the
school entry survey from September 2018,
offering oral health education sessions in
schools and supporting schools who want to
focus on oral health to achieve a London
Healthy Schools award.
Healthy Schools London is already in place
in Kingston and supports schools to create a
healthy environment for children. Reducing
the amount of sugar in the school
environment is an important element of the
scheme.

Kingston’s Sugar Smart campaign (launched
2018) is now encouraging and supporting
local schools, nurseries, businesses and
others to reduce the amount of sugar
children eat and drink every day.

Health visitors will begin distributing
toothbrush and toothpaste packs to local
families at key routine checks when babies
are one year and two and a half years old
from 2018.

A13

Local NHS Dental Practices are
commissioned by NHS England for both
preventative checks and advice and
restorative dental treatment. These services
are free for children. There are 26 NHS
dental practices in Kingston and a full list
can be found on the Kingston CCG website.

What’s new since 2017-18?

Healthy Early Years London is a new
scheme to support childcare and early years
providers to create a healthy environment
for young children, including reducing
sugar and supporting families with oral
health. Kingston is considering joining the
scheme when it is launched in 2018.

Dental Check by One is a national
campaign launched by NHS England in
September 2017, being implemented in
2018. It will encourage parents to take
their child to the dentist when their first
tooth emerges, or by their first birthday.
These visits are really important to help
parents to get the right advice at an early
stage and enable young children to get
used to visiting the dentist, and dentists can
be reimbursed for this work.

7

Kingston JSNA Factsheet: children’s oral health
Recommendations: a
proposed strategic
approach to children’s
oral health in Kingston

A14

8

Kingston JSNA Factsheet: children’s oral health
Recommendations

Kingston Council’s Public Health Team should:
7.

Health visitors, nurses, GPs, pharmacists, midwives,
the early years workforce and other health, care and
children’s social services professionals should:
Undertake basic oral health training
Ensure proactive oral health advice is
incorporated into routine appointments and
visits for young children.

9.

10.
All those who offer oral health advice should:
3.

Ensure it includes advice about what foods
and drinks a child should be consuming and
when to visit the dentist for the first time, as
well as about toothbrushing and frequency of
visits to the dentist.

Health Visitors should:
4.

5.
6.

Work with the local Oral Health Promotion
service on a systematic programme of
toothbrush and toothpaste distribution
Undertake training in oral health promotion
Ensure they routinely give evidence-based
oral health advice to parents, including
advising on toothbrushing, diet and dental
visits

11.

12.

The local Oral Health Promotion service should:
13.

14.

Work with the early years workforce on a
systematic programme of toothbrush and
toothpaste distribution
Work with Public Health to establish a
consistent evaluation and monitoring
framework for programme delivery in the
borough

Deliver oral health training for school nurses, Children’s centres and other early years settings
school staff, health visitors, the early years
should:
workforce, other healthcare professionals
and community leaders across Kingston.
20.
Establish a whole-setting approach to oral
health, ensuring it is part of policies and
Headteachers should:
procedures, making drinking water and
healthy snacks available, displaying
16.
Establish a whole-school approach to oral
appropriate advice and incorporating oral
health, ensuring it is part of policies and
health into the curriculum, and ensuring that
procedures, making drinking water and
these approaches are maintained at
healthy snacks available, displaying
breakfast and after school clubs as well as
appropriate advice and incorporating oral
during the day.
health into the curriculum, and ensuring that
21.
Incorporate oral health into their work
these approaches are maintained at
towards Healthy Early Years accreditation.
breakfast and after school clubs as well as
If developing a more comprehensive
during the day.
programme for a higher level Healthy Early
17.
Incorporate oral health into their work
Years award, work with the Oral Health
towards Healthy Schools accreditation.
Promotion service and Health Visitors
18.
If developing a more comprehensive
service to develop plans based on Public
programme for a higher level Healthy
Health England and NICE advice.
Schools award, work with the Oral Health
22.
Ensure relevant staff are trained in oral
Promotion service and School Nursing
health and able to give oral health advice to
service to develop plans based on Public
children and parents
Health England and NICE advice.
19.
Ensure relevant staff are trained in oral
health and able to give oral health advice to
children and parents
Work with the local school nursing service to
integrate oral health in their PSHE
curriculum

A15

1.
2.

8.

Ensure commissioning of effective oral
health promotion
Use a common risk factor approach to
integrate oral health in existing policies and
programmes
Continue its work to create oral-health
friendly environments and policies in schools
through the Sugar Smart initiative and the
Healthy School London local programme
Promote oral health to local people. This
includes systematic integration of oral health
messages into communications, participation
in national oral health campaigns and
integration of oral health promotion into
community health programmes and events
for vulnerable groups.
Monitor the uptake of oral health training in
the 0-19 Children and Young People’s
Service
Establish a consistent evaluation and
monitoring framework to assess the impact
of local work to maintain good oral health for
children.

15.

9

Kingston JSNA Factsheet: children’s oral health
NHS England and local dentists should work
together to:

Local community groups who work with children
and families should:

26.
25.

23.

Avoid offering sugary snacks to children
make sure they know where to refer parents
for advice on oral health

27.

28.
29.

Local parents should follow Public Health England
advice by:

Support schools to establish oral health
plans as part of their Healthy Schools
London award
Undertake training in oral health promotion
Deliver and support oral health education in
PSHE and at other key times when
contacting families (such as for the National
Child Monitoring Programme), in line with
new commissioning arrangements
Establish monitoring of oral health data at
school registration to identify
Identify children at risk of dental neglect and
ensure referral to appropriate services

30.
31.

32.

Ensuring their child has a healthy diet
Ensuring their child brushes their teeth twice
a day with a fluoride toothpaste, once before
bed and at one other time
Taking their child to the dentist before the
age of one or when their first tooth erupts,
and return regularly in line with their
dentist’s advice

A16

24.

Prioritise prevention of decay for young
children by supporting the Dental Check by
One campaign, ensuring routine
appointments are available for families and
ensuring practices are child-friendly.
Ensure advice on preventative treatment in
Delivering Better Oral Health is followed,
including giving fluoride varnish to children
aged three or over or at risk of decay,
checking diet, and offering families advice
about healthy food.

School Nurses should:

Further reading
Reports prepared to support this project:
HealthWatch Kingston Healthy Teeth, Healthy Children
report, HealthWatch Kingston
Kingston Healthy Teeth, Healthy Children survey,
Kingston Council Public Health Team

Key national guidance:
Commissioning Better Oral Health for children and
young people, Public Health England, 2014

Resources for schools and early years settings:
Westminster Tooth Fairy: a tale of triumph over terrible
teeth. Resources and video

Delivering Better Oral Health: an evidence based toolkit Dental Buddy lesson plans
for prevention, Public Health England, 2017
Setting up a toothbrushing scheme in early years
Health Matters: Child Dental Health, 2017, Public
settings
Health England

Health promotion resources for families and dental
practices:
Dental Check by One campaign
Change4Life: Top Tips for Teeth
British Society for Paediatric Dentistry, Advice for
parents of children with autism
NHS Choices, Children’s Teeth

Oral Health: local authorities and partners (PH55),
NICE, 2014

August 2018

Brush Time resource for toothbrushing schemes in
schools and early years settings

All data sources and references are
available on request from
phps@kingston.gov.uk

Kingston children’s oral health survey (2017-18)
Report prepared 2018 on behalf of the Royal Borough of Kingston Public Health Team

A17

Key findings (n=104)
●
●
●
●

●
●

●

Recommendations
●
●
●
●

Health Visitors, GPs, pharmacists and other healthcare professionals should ensure proactive oral health advice is incorporated into
routine appointments and visits for young children.
Schools and children’s centres should incorporate oral health advice and a good environment for oral health as part of their work
towards Healthy Schools and Healthy Early Years accreditation.
All those who offer oral health advice should ensure it includes advice about what foods and drinks a child should be consuming and
when to visit the dentist for the first time, as well as about toothbrushing and frequency of visits to the dentist.
Dentists should prioritise prevention of decay for young children by ensuring routine appointments are available for families, including
those with young children, and considering how to make their practices more child-friendly.

1

A18

Almost half of local parents (46%) said their child had had at least one problem with their oral health over the past six months. The
commonest reported were problems with the appearance of their teeth, mouth or gums.
Just under one in three parents (32%) had felt stressed or anxious about their child’s oral health in the last six months.
Although 75% of parents said that it was easy to access dental care in Kingston, only 60% thought that it was easy to access oral health
advice.
Parents of younger children were less likely than others to say they had been given the right oral health advice and less confident than
others about how to look after their child’s oral health. Only seven in ten parents of 1 - 4 year olds had been given advice about how
often to visit the dentist.
Only 55% of parents said they had been given advice about what kinds of food and drink their child should be consuming.
Seven in eight parents said their child had been to the dentist at least once. The commonest age to start going to the dentist was two
years old, which is older than the age recommended by Public Health England for a first visit. More than a third did not go to the dentist
until they were three or older.
Among those who had used dental services, nine in ten said that their child’s experience had been good or very good. The aspects of
dental services with the most scope for improvement were length of wait for a routine appointment, and the child-friendly nature of the
practice.

Background
In order to inform a chapter of the local Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, Kingston Public Health is reviewing information on the oral health of
children aged under 12 who live in Kingston upon Thames. Inclusion of the views and experiences of local people are an important part of the
approach to JSNA in Kingston.
The scope of the JSNA chapter includes
● Oral health improvement (health promotion) and population-level prevention of oral health problems for children aged under 12
● Oral health improvement (health promotion) in community settings for children aged under 12
● Oral health of vulnerable groups of children under 12, including children with special needs
● Preventative primary and secondary dental services for children under 12.
It does not include orthodontics or any other specialist dental services.

Methods
The key themes for the survey were identified following discussion with the overall children’s oral health JSNA chapter project Steering Group.
The survey was aimed at parents of children aged under 12 and sought to identify:
1. The impact of children’s oral health on local families
2. Families’ confidence in managing oral health
3. Experience of oral health promotion and preventative dental care
4. Satisfaction with dental services
Wherever possible, questions were based on on those validated for use in existing national surveys, including the questionnaire for parents and
guardians from the 2013 ONS Dental Health Survey of children and young people and the 2009 ONS Adult Dental Health Survey. Minor
amendments were made to some questions to ensure the questionnaire referred to the respondent’s child rather than themselves, and a small
2

A19

Kingston’s rates of dental decay at age five are better than the England and London averages, at 22.9%, but given that almost all tooth decay is
avoidable, there could be some scope to make improvements. Like many parts of London, Kingston also has higher rates of tooth extraction for
children than for England as a whole. Understanding parents’ experiences and concerns about their child’s oral health may help to identify how
to improve on oral health outcomes in the area.

number of new questions were devised, including an open question inviting feedback. The questionnaire was reviewed and tested by
HealthWatch Kingston and Public Health England, and tested by a local parent.
The questionnaire collected demographic data including the age, gender and ethnicity of the child; the age, gender, ethnicity and highest
educational qualification of the person completing the survey; the income of the household and the number of children in order to help identify
whether different demographic groups have a different experience of oral health promotion and healthcare. Respondents who had more than
one child were asked to complete the survey with reference to the oral health of their youngest child. Person-identifiable data were not collected
and the survey was open to anyone to take online. Please see appendix for the full questionnaire.
The survey was completed via Kingston Conversations (www.kingstonconversations.co.uk) which is the local authority’s main digital
engagement platform and data were stored securely while analysis was conducted, before being deleted. No identifiable records of which
individuals responded to the survey were made.

Data processing and analysis was conducted by the project lead within the public health team in Kingston local authority. Partially completed
surveys were not excluded from the analysis and percentages were reported based on the number of people who responded to each specific
question. Results were analysed by subcategories including the child’s age group, gender, ethnicity and household income. Results are
reported by percentage, but the overall base size (number of respondents) is also included in tables and figures.
Following discussion with members of Kingston’s JSNA working group, it was agreed that it would not be necessary to suppress small
percentages in this report. It was determined that the risk of identification of an individual through triangulation with other data was extremely
low, since the survey was open to all and there were a number of different referral routes, meaning anyone could be a participant. In addition,
the survey reports subjective views and experiences, so there is no way of knowing how any individual might have responded to any question.
No formal statistical tests were carried out.

3

A20

Responses were collected between 18 December 2017 and 9 February 2018. The survey was promoted via the Royal Borough of Kingston
upon Thames Twitter account, the RBK Matters staff newsletter, the Community Health Matters Newsletter, the HealthWatch Kingston
newsletter and the local school newsletter. Parents attending a HealthWatch Kingston consultation session at the Quaker Centre on 20 January
2018 January and a community health event at the Hook Centre on 26 January 2018 completed the survey in person.

Results
A total of 104 survey responses were submitted. The sample is small. More than 24,000 children aged under 12 live in Kingston, meaning that
the sample for this survey reflects the experiences of less than 0.5% of the population. This means that all results should be treated with
caution, particularly those for subgroups.
Most (60%) entered the survey page directly, 28% entered via social media, 2% entered via email, 1% via search engine, 5% by referral from
others and 5% completed the survey in person at outreach events.

1. Demography

4

A21

The survey was completed on behalf of 104 children, with the most common age range being the 5-8 age group. A total of 54% of the children
were male and 46% were female. The most commonly reported ethnicity was White (68%), followed by Mixed (15%) and Asian or Asian British
(11%). Kingston’s overall population is approximately 69% White, 20% Asian and 5% Mixed. Most respondents reported that the child attended
primary schools, with 66% reporting that the child attended primary school. Two percent attended secondary school, 6% attended a local
authority nursery, 16% attended an independent nursery, 6% attended a childminder and 8% did not attend any of these settings.

Table 1: demographic characteristics of the respondent’s youngest child
%
Age of child (n=102)
Under 1

%
Ethnicity of child (n=104)

3%

White

68%

1 to 4

37%

Mixed or multiple ethnic groups

15%

5 to 8

40%

Asian or Asian British

11%

9 to 11

20%

Black African, Caribbean or Black British

1%

Other ethnic group

2%

Prefer not to say

3%

Total responses

100%

Gender of child (n=102)
54%

Female

46%

A22

Male

Almost all respondents were parents, though 1% were legal guardians and 1% were completing it as grandparents. Most respondents (84%)
had qualifications at degree level or higher. The modal age category was 35 to 44 and most (91%) were women. Almost two thirds (61%)
reported a household income above £40,000 per year and the modal number of children in the household was two.

5

Table 2: demographic characteristics of the household and the person completing the survey
%
Age of respondent (n=104)
24 and under

%
Highest qualification of respondent (n=104)

0%

Degree level or above

84%
14%

25 to 34

12%

Another type of qualification

35 to 44

60%

Prefer not to say

45 to 54

26%

3%

1%

Children in household (n=103)

Prefer not to say

3%

1

36%

2

55%

3

6%

9%

4

2%

91%

0

1%

Gender of respondent (n=104)
Male
Female

A23

55+

6

Ethnicity of respondent (n=104)
White
Mixed or multiple ethnic groups
Asian or Asian British

Annual household income (n=104)
74%

Below £20,000

4%

3%

£21,000 - £40,000

14%

14%

More than £40,000

61%

Prefer not to say

22%

Black African Caribbean or Black British

1%

Other ethnic group

6%

Prefer not to say

3%

A24

2. Experiences of oral health advice
A majority of respondents had received oral health advice, with 87% reporting that they had been given advice about cleaning their child’s teeth
and gums and 84% reporting that they had been given advice about how frequently they should go to the dentist.
Among parents of younger children aged between one and four, 77% had received advice about brushing their teeth and 70% had received
advice about going to the dentist. Among parents of children of Asian or Asian British ethnicity, 73% had received advice about how frequently
their child should go to the dentist.
Parents were less likely to have been asked about, or to have received advice about their child’s diet and its impact on oral health than about
visiting the dentist. Only 54% said that a dentist or another professional had asked them about what kinds of food and drink their child
consumes and only 55% had been given advice about what kind of food and drink they should be consuming.

7

Figure 1: advice about visiting the dentist (n=103)

A25

The most commonly reported source of oral health advice was from a dentist, at a dental surgery. Of those who had received advice about
going to the dentist (n=86), 96% had received it from a dentist and 11% had received it from a health visitor. Only 1% had received this advice
from a GP. Of those who said they had been given advice about the types of food and drink they should be consuming (n=57), 91% said they
had received the advice from a dentist, 4% had received it from a dental nurse, 7% said they had received it from a health visitor and 2% said
they had received it from a GP.

8

Most parents (83%) agreed or strongly agreed that they were confident about their ability to manage their child’s oral health on a daily basis.
Among parents of younger children aged 1-4, 74% were confident, and among parents of Asian or Asian British children, 73% were confident.
No major difference in confidence was identified between parents from households with incomes above and below £40,000 per year.
Qualitative comments about oral health advice included suggestions to:
● Give advice at children’s centres and in schools
● Allow toothbrushing in schools
● Demonstrate correct tooth brushing in schools for younger children
● Give advice about snacking and sugary drinks, including advice about sugary snacks which are perceived as healthy such as dried fruit
● Give advice about supervised toothbrushing
● Make sure children are exposed to sugary foods less frequently
● Give advice about teething and thumb sucking
3. Experience of dental service access and quality

9

A26

Most parents reported that it was easy to access oral health advice and dental services in Kingston, with 60% agreeing or strongly agreeing
that it is easy to access oral health advice and 75% agreeing or strongly agreeing that it is easy to access dental services. Parents of younger
children were less likely to say that it was easy to access dental service or oral health advice. Although only a small proportion of respondents
felt that it was difficult to access services, this subject was raised by four people in response to an open question, with comments including that
there was a limited choice of NHS dentists, that it was necessary to travel to be able access an NHS dentist and that there was a long waiting
time to see an NHS dentist.

Figure 2: access to dental services and oral health advice (n=104)

A27

Most parents (88%) reported that their child had been to the dentist at least once, with 56% having attended three times or more. The
commonest age at which children had first been taken to the dentist was two years old, with 27% reporting that their child had first been to the
10

dentist at this age. A total of 17% had first been to the dentist before their first birthday, 20% had first been to the dentist between the ages of
one and two, 20% had first been to the dentist between the ages of three and four, and 17% went to the dentist for the first time when they
were four or older.
Figure 3: quality of dental care (n=91)

A28

Most parents who had taken their child to a dentist reported that they were happy with their experience of the service. Overall, 91% of this
group parents responded that their child’s experience had been good or very good; 91% reported that the communication skills of the dental
team were good or very good; 87% reported that provision of advice was good or very good; 80% reported that the child-friendly nature of the
practice was good or very good; 88% reported that the standard and quality of dental care was good or very good; 86% who had relevant

11

experience reported that the length of wait for an urgent appointment was good or very good; and 79% reported that the length of wait for a
routine appointment was good or very good.
Qualitative comments highlighted that potential areas for improvement in dental practices include:
● Provision of appointments outside working hours, or offering family appointments
● Lack of time to talk about prevention of oral health problems
● Availability of staffing and equipment
● Lack of access to fluoride varnish for NHS patients
● Clarity about funding and availability of orthodontic treatments
4. Oral health at home and its impact on the family

12

A29

Just under half of parents, 44%, reported that their child had had at least one problem with their oral health in the past six months. The most
commonly reported issues were problems with the appearance of teeth, gums or mouth, reported by 13%, followed by pains in the mouth other
than toothache which affected 9%, and bad breath, which affected 8%. Seven percent had experienced bleeding gums, 4% had experienced
toothache and 3% had experienced tooth decay.

Figure 4: reported impact of children’s oral health on the wider family (n=104)

A30

13

Most parents did not report that their child’s oral health had affected their quality of life in the past six months. Just under a third (32%) of
parents said that they had felt stressed or anxious about it at least once, 28% had felt guilty about it at least once, 6% said it had interrupted
their normal activities, 20% said that their sleep or the other parent’s sleep had been disrupted, 23% said their child had needed more attention,
2% reported financial difficulties and 12% had taken time off work.
The most common age at which to start brushing teeth was between six months and one year. Of those whose children brushed their teeth or
had them brushed, 22% reported that they started brushing before their child was six months old, 52% started brushing when their child was
between six months and one year old, 21% started brushing when their child was between one and two years old, 1% started brushing when
their child was between two and four years old and 2% started brushing when their child was between four and six years old.

In qualitative comments, parents reported various challenges in looking after their children’s teeth including lack of confidence, resistance to
toothbrushing from the child, difficulty in explaining the importance of oral health to young children, and difficulty avoiding sugary foods and
drinks, and problems with thumb sucking.

Discussion
Most of the people who responded to this survey were relatively confident in managing their child’s oral health, and reported that their child had
received good oral health advice and dental care. Most said they had received oral health advice, including advice about tooth brushing and
visiting the dentist. However, the main source of this advice was dentists themselves. This means that parents who don’t already know when
and how to visit the dentist may be be missing out on advice about how to manage their child’s oral health. The parents of younger children
were less confident about how to look after their child’s teeth and less likely to say they had received the right advice. Parents from Asian and

14

A31

Most children who brushed their teeth did so with supervision. Thirty-eight percent said their child brushed their own teeth, 12% said that an
adult brushed their child’s teeth, and 50% said that an adult and their child together brushed their child’s teeth. Supervised brushing is
recommended for children aged under seven. Of the children below this age, 17% brushed their teeth alone. Fifteen percent had teeth brushed
once a day, 84% had teeth brushed twice a day 1% had teeth brushed three times a day. Toothpaste was used by 89%, non-electric
toothbrushes were used by 73%, electric toothbrushes were used by 55%, mouthwash was used by 15%, dental floss by 11%, dental
disclosing tablets by 7%, chewing gum by 7% and fluoride tablets by 2%.

Mixed backgrounds were less likely than White parents to report that they had been given advice about how often to visit the dentist and Asian
parents were less confident about how to look after their children’s teeth, though it is important to note that the sample size is small.
These findings imply that it would be helpful to look for earlier opportunities for oral health promotion and for oral health advice to be given
routinely outside the dentist, particularly for parents of younger children and perhaps also targeted to some BAME communities. However,
further research with a larger sample size would be helpful to be confident about which groups feel they would benefit most from which advice.
Only 55% had been given advice about what kinds of food and drink their child should consume. Sugar was raised as a concern by many
parents in the qualitative comments section of the survey, suggesting that there may be scope to improve on both the frequency of advice
about sugar consumption and the support parents get to avoid sugar in their child’s diet.
Seven in every eight children had been to the dentist at least once, and the commonest age to first visit the dentist was two years old. Public
Health England advises that children should visit the dentist before their first birthday, or when their first tooth emerges. This suggests that
there could be scope to encourage local parents to take their child to visit the dentist sooner.

There are many other limitations and reasons for caution in interpreting the results of this survey. Responses were anonymous and there was
no verification of local residency in Kingston or of where in the borough people live, meaning that it was not possible to identify from this survey
whether there are particular wards or areas where parents are more likely to have problems with their child’s oral health. In addition, it was
based on a self-selected and opportunistic sample of local residents, meaning that we cannot be confident that their views reflect those of the
local population. Those who did participate may have had a particular interest in oral health, meaning that their knowledge of oral health advice
and of how to access local services may be better than for those who did not participate. In addition, it was conducted online, in English, which
means that those who are digitally excluded and those who do not understand written English would have been unable to participate.

15

A32

Most parents rated the quality of dental services their child had received relatively highly, with potential areas for improvement highlighted as
being the length of wait for a routine appointment, and the child-friendly nature of the practice. However, it should be noted that some people
who live in Kingston use private dental services or NHS services in neighbouring boroughs and that this survey did not collect data to
distinguish between these services. This means it is likely that the experiences of dental care reported here do not all relate to NHS dentistry in
Kingston.

As noted above, the sample is also small, which means we can be less confident of how well it reflects the whole population’s views. This is
particularly the case where very small percentages have been reported. These may give an indication that an issue is not widespread in
Kingston, but should not be interpreted to represent the size of that issue in the population.
Nevertheless in conjunction with other sources of data about children’s oral health in Kingston, this may be helpful to inform future
commissioning of oral health promotion and dental services. Further research would be particularly helpful to identify the extent of oral health
inequalities in Kingston, including collection of more localised information to identify whether there are differences in experience between
different parts of the borough and collecting more data about Kingston’s BAME communities, who were under-represented in this survey.

A33

16

B1
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES

Appendix B

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
15 NOVEMBER 2018
(7:30 pm – 9:50 pm)
Members of the Board
Councillors:
Councillor Liz Green (Co-Chair), Councillor Rowena Bass*, Councillor Ed Fram,
Councillor Dave Ryder-Mills, Councillor Margaret Thompson*, Councillor Diane
White
Representatives from Kingston CCG, Healthwatch and the Voluntary Sector:
Dr Nazim Jivani (Co-Chair), Dr Phil Moore, Dr Peter Smith*, Dr Liz Meerabeau,
Patricia Turner
Council Officers (non voting):
Robert Henderson*, Iona Lidington, Stephen Taylor
Advisory Members (non voting):
Siobhan Clarke – Your Healthcare*, Tonia Michaelides – Kingston CCG, Dr Mark
Potter – South West London and St George’s Mental Health Trust*, Jane Wilson –
Kingston Hospital NHS Trust*, Gwen Kennedy – NHS England*, Dr Anthony Hughes
- GP Chambers*
*Absent
29.

QUESTIONS AND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
There were no questions from the Gallery.

30.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

31.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND ATTENDANCE OF
SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS
Apologies were received from Councillors Margaret Thompson and Rowena Bass.
Councillors Alison Holt and David Cunningham attended as alternates respectively.
Apologies were also received from Jane Wilson and Siobhan Clarke and Sally
Brittain and Grant Henderson attended as alternates respectively. Apologies were
received from Dr Anthony Hughes, Dr Pete Smith and Stephen Taylor.
24

B2
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES

32.

HEALTH AND WEL
15 NOVEMBER 2018

MINUTES
Dr Liz Meerabeau sought clarification of the MESCH approach referred to in Minute
25 of the last meeting. The Director of Public Health provided the following
information:
The Maternal Early Childhood Sustained Home-visiting (MECSH) approach is to
reduce inequalities by improving the health and social wellbeing of vulnerable
families with new babies, while also strengthening child and community health
service provision through the integration and coordination of services, particularly
via health visitors.
RESOLVED that:
1. the above paragraph be added to Minute 25; and
2. the minutes as amended were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the
Co-Chair, Councillor Liz Green (in the Chair).

33.

PARTNERS' UPDATES AND THE WORK PROGRAMME

Appendix A

The following information was presented in the Partners’ Update report:
Public Health:
 Mental Health Time to Change Hub – this is a forum for local people and local
public, private and voluntary organisations to come together to end the
stigma and discrimination experienced by people with mental health
problems.
 Mental Health Champion (MHC) lead Councillors - following approval at
Council on 18 October, MHCs are being appointed for each strategic
committee. The Health and Wellbeing Board will receive updates regarding
the work of MHCs as part of the implementation of the Thrive Kingston
Mental Health Strategy.
 Preventing and reducing the impact of drug and alcohol misuse – an update
on the work of the Kingston Wellbeing Service which works in partnership
with Moving on Together to support recovery. An event took place at
Surbiton Health Centre on 27 September to celebrate recovery month. A clip
from a video was shown.
 Health protection – winter preparedness – Local health partners have
developed winter plans to deal with increases in respiratory and
cardiovascular illness and promotion of stay warm in winter and flu
vaccinations campaigns are underway with vaccination being delivered in a
staged way. There were initially some vaccine supply problems. The “Haven”
winter night shelter will be open from 8pm to 7.30am nightly until March 2019
operated by the Kingston Churches Action on Homelessness. There are
some concerns about the number of people accessing this service.
 Health Protection Committee – the setting up has been deferred due to senior
staff losses.
25

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
15 NOVEMBER 2018




B3

ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAME

Public Health Workforce – recent organisational change has led to the public
health function being brought under the new Communities directorate along
with a number of other functions. The introduction of a new organisational
structure has led to the loss of three senior colleagues and thanks were noted
for their professionalism and commitment.
Connected Kingston – this will become publicly available in January 2019 and
an application to the Local Digital Fund will be made to enable further
developments.

Kingston Hospital NHS Foundation Trust:







Performance Targets - the Hospital is continuing to perform well on cancer
targets, the 18 week referral to treatment time and A&E performance is
around 90% seen in 4 hours.
Delayed transfers of care – the numbers of patients who have been delayed
in in hospital for more than 6 days and more than 231 days have been falling.
Winter plans have been approved by the A&E Board and submitted to NHSE
Transformational projects on theatre productivity and outpatients are
progressing
Workforce Developments – the Trust received a national award from the
Skills for Health, Health Heroes for Health and Wellbeing and staff retention
A new Mental Health Assessment Unit adjacent to the emergency
department is being progressed with phase 1 opening on Christmas Eve and
phase 2 during 2019.

Kingston Clinical Commissioning Group:








Health and Care Plan engagement – an engagement event is taking place on
21 November
Over the counter medicines publicity has been developed and will be made
widely available for patients along with winter messages promoting the use of
Pharmacies for advice
Outpatient transformation project – NHS organisations in Kingston are
collaborating to transform outpatient services so patients and GPs can
access the advice and services of specialist clinicians in the most efficient
and effective way.
South West London Health and Care Partnership update – work has been
progressing on the following areas Children and Young People, End of Life
Care, connecting Care, Local Health and Care Plan and Joint workforce
priorities
Finance update – the CCG expects to meet its planned 0.4% surplus of
£1.06m and the QIPP savings of £9.8M.

Adult Social Care:


Maximising independence – the new model has been in place for 4 months.
All clients who need some support to become independent receive a 5 day
service including a full assessment. Where needed, extra reablement
support is provided for 3 weeks. After this time an ongoing package of care
may be required by some.
26

B4
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES






HEALTH AND WEL
15 NOVEMBER 2018

Home to Decide – is a programme for people being discharged but have
been assessed as needing residential placement. It provides 24hour support
and assessment for 3 days and a further 11 days enablement support to
maximise independence.
Safe and Connected Royal Mail pilot in Kingston to tackle loneliness in older
people
ASC Organisational Change – Assistant Director posts have been recruited
(Jane Bearman – Operations, Martin Sanford Hayles – Commissioning and
Transformation). Corporate Heads of Service are being recruited.
ASC now includes community housing

Healthwatch Kingston:










Has planned the Health Care partnership engagement event on 21
November
Work around the Youth Out Loud! Initiative to engage with young people on
health and social care services.
HWK chairs and administers the Thrive Kingston Mental Health Strategy
Planning and Implementation Group.
Bidding for the Time to Change Kingston Hub
Co-chairing with a person with LD the Kingston All-Age Learning disability
Partnership Board
Enter and View report of Kingston Adult Community Services at Safe and
Connected Royal Mail pilot in Kingston to tackle loneliness in older people
The Enter and View report of Kingston Adult Community Services at Tolworth
Hospital will be published imminently
A discharge form Kingston Hospital survey will be run for a month from 5
November, with a second month in March 2019.
Service User Survey for ICope (IAPT service) is due to go live in November
and end in March.

Kingston Voluntary Action:





Food Poverty – the action plan is awaiting sign off before it is shared with the
Board. A number of insights have been reflected in the final draft.
Connected Kingston – Social Prescribing Programme which has been coproduced with KVA to train Connected Champions who will provide help and
support to access information about opportunities which will have a positive
impact on people’s health and wellbeing.
Mental Health – KVA has participated in the mental health strategy Planning
and Implementation group and will now participate in the Time to Change
Steering Group. It is also working with the LSCB on mental health and risky
behaviours to help prevent problems and hospital admissions.

During discussion a question was raised by Mary Clark, in the gallery about the
absence of a winter hub in the Maldens and Coombe area. Dr Jivani replied that
there are three hubs in Kington, Surbiton and Chessington which serve the whole of
Kingston and people can attend any of these. They are open from 7am to 8.30pm
and provide extended access, not just services over the winter period. Dr Jivani
stated that feedback suggested that people in the New Malden area are happy to
27

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
15 NOVEMBER 2018

B5

ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAME

attend these hubs. He added that the hubs are not used to capacity and especially
on Sundays and usage is reviewed on and on-going basis. Tonia Michaelides
added that there is now an urgent treatment centre at front of A&E at KHT which is
staffed by GPs. Mrs Clark pursued her question and suggested that only 5% of
elderly people access the other hubs as two bus journeys are needed. The CoChair asked the CCG to provide a fuller response to Mrs Clark.
The Board considered the work programme for the forthcoming meetings.
RESOLVED that:
1. The Partners’ Updates are noted; and
2. The work programme is agreed as follows:
31 January 2019
Update on Communicating with people to encourage seeking of dementia
diagnosis to enable provision of support for living well
Food Poverty Action Plan
“Prevention is better than Cure” DHSC White paper (published 5 November)
28 March 2019
Health Protection Committee Terms of Reference
3. Discussions are held by respective Communications Teams to ensure
efficiency with health communications aimed at the public.
Voting: unanimously in favour
34.

CHILD AND ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES
(CAMHS) TRANSFORMATION PLAN 2018 REFRESH

Appendix B

The report, introduced by Doreen Redwood, Lead Children’s Health Commissioner,
K&R CCGs, provided information to the Board about the Child and Adolescent
Mental Health (CAMHS) Transformation Plan 2018 Refresh.
The NHS Five Year Forward View 2015 included the aim to ensure sustainable
improvements are made in children and young people’s (CYP) mental health
outcomes by 2020 and the Transformation Plan provides the local vision, the
priorities, service improvements and actions to address the mental health needs of
children and young people and parents/carers of the local populations.
The Plan is refreshed annually and is submitted to NHSE and the CCG receives an
allocation of £377K to support the programme. This year’s assurance process is
lighter touch and focusses on addressing new areas introduced in the key lines of
enquiry: Transparency and governance, understanding local need, workforce,
collaborative and place based commissioning, health and justice, improving access
to psychological therapies for children and young people, eating disorders, data,
crisis care. The Plan is developed using participation methods including
engagement with children, young people, parents and carers.
28

B6
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES

HEALTH AND WEL
15 NOVEMBER 2018

During the three years that the Transformation Planning process has been in place
there have been achievements in the following areas:
 Training in school
 Introduction of on-line counselling, support and advice
 Increase in support for eating disorders
 Increase in support in A&E
 Recruitment of more people
 Increasing the uptake of support
Challenges to delivering the plan are:
 Waiting times which have not reduced as planned
 Difficulties recruiting
 Increasing demand for services
 Increasing admissions to hospital
 Developing the right help for CYP with learning disabilities and challenging
behaviour
2018/19 ambitions, priorities and delivery have been developed using the five
outcomes identified in “Future in Mind” guidance issued in 2015 i.e.
 Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention
 Improving access to effective support – a system without Tiers
 Care for the most vulnerable
 Accountability and transparency
 Developing the workforce.
The report identified priorities under each of these and Board’s views were sought.
During her introduction Doreen Redwood stated the strategic approach in South
West London is to reduce in-patient admissions for CYP and locally we have a
community based service. Tonia Michaelides added that there is a greater emphasis
on preventing the development of mental health problems.
The Board heard that there were challenges. Pre- and post diagnostic support for
Children with Autistic Spectrum Disorders (ASD) and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity
disorder (ADHD) is a challenge and an improved pathway is being developed to
make access easier. Waiting list pressures are not unique to Kingston and an
increasing demand for services can often follow successful service provision. The
national target of increasing access to treatments to 32% may not be achieved but
progress has been good so far.
A question was asked by James Moore in the Gallery. He suggested there is a
shortage of in-borough places for children with SEND and asked for details of the
numbers who do not have in borough service. Ian Dodds responded that there was
a reliance on out of borough provision and currently about 6 are provided for in this
way but the intention is to build more local capacity. Charis Penfold added that
Kingston is a small borough and does not have the ability to provide a wide variety
of care and it can therefore be appropriate to have an out of borough placement. Mr
Moore asked a further question about whether children are appropriately placed out
29

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
15 NOVEMBER 2018

B7

ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAME

of borough. Ian Dodds agreed to look at the details and provide an answer outside
of the meeting.
The following points were made by members:
In response to a question about the capacity to meet the Plan’s aspirations, Doreen
Redwood replied that there is a need to increase the capacity for the Single Point of
Access to meet the growing demand in schools and need to provide fast access to
someone to talk to.
Attention was drawn to the pressures on mental health arising from unmet housing
needs; the consequences of eviction on children can be enormous especially where
families are relocated at some distance.
Doreen Redwood pointed to a new service in schools offered by child wellbeing
practitioners who deliver low level interventions for parents and young people.
Whilst this cannot meet all needs progress is being made and any national
investment for mental health teams in schools will enable further progress.
Dr Phil Moore drew attention to ensuring the needs of home educated children are
met.
Further information was requested about the detail about how progress is made and
monitored and it was agreed that the draft Transformation Plan would be circulated
to members.
RESOLVED that:
1. The information in the report and provided verbally is noted;
2. A six-months’ progress monitoring report is presented for consideration at a
future meeting of the Board;
3. Comments made about the ambitions, and the need for further details about
how they will be achieved are noted by the CCG; and
4. The full draft plan would be circulated to members of the Board.
Voting: unanimously in favour
35.

ALL AGE LEARNING DISABILITY STRATEGY

Appendix C

The report, introduced by Elizabeth Brandill-Pepper, Corporate Head of Service,
Specialist Commissioning, set out Kingston’s five year Joint Health and Social Care
Strategy for Children, Young People and Adults with Learning Disabilities (LD).
Approval of the strategy (attached at Annex 1) is being sought by the Children’s,
Adults’ and Education Committee on 22 November and the Board was requested to
endorse it and was asked to ensure that the strategy is reflected within members’
own organisation’s strategic plans.
30

B8
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES

HEALTH AND WEL
15 NOVEMBER 2018

The Strategy has been produced in three versions – a full technical version, a
summary and communication document and an easy read version.
The All Age Learning Disability Strategy replaces the earlier Learning Disability
Strategy which expired in 2017. It has been co-produced on the basis of local
needs outlined in the Learning Disability Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA),
the Special Educational Needs and Disability JSNA and extensive engagement work
with families and carers. The strategy aims to “increase independence, improve
access to mainstream services and community assets thereby leading to increase
cost efficiency and value for money”. It is aligned with the three LD outcome
measures in the joint NHS, Adult Social Care and Public Health outcome
Framework, other national drivers and the Marmot Review (which considers
inequalities in health outcomes which for people with learning disabilities can mean
that their lives are up to 20 years shorter than average). The Strategy identifies key
interventions for early years, transition and adulthood and these are framed around
themes of maximising independence, strengthening the pathway from education to
employment, being part of Kingston and having good health. The Strategy also
focusses on improving choice about where people live i.e. away from institutional
care and within the community.
Healthwatch Kingston has been commissioned to provide chairmanship to the All
Age Learning Disability Partnership Board which oversees the actions associated
with the plan and the Partnership Board includes representation of people with
learning disabilities and their families.
The following points were raised in discussion:
Members complimented officers on the three version approach and some expressed
a preference for the easy read document and the version for people with leaning
disability was particularly welcomed. The Board was informed that the Council has a
resource to enable easy read versions to be produced and this approach will be
taken forward for other strategies, including the joint Autism Strategy.
Grant Henderson, Your Healthcare, drew attention to some specific comments on
an earlier version of the document which had not been reflected and he would
welcome opportunities for further discussion.
Comment was made about the specialist support and assistance which people with
LD may require when in touch with the Contact Centre and the general on-line
approach to finding out about services may present a real barrier for them. In
response Elizabeth Brandill-Pepper accepted that the Contact Centre could be an
overwhelming place to visit and Peer Advocates (people with LD employed by
Council to improve accessibility) are currently undertaking an audit of the Contact
Centre and Job Centre Plus to identify any improvements would could be made.
A question was asked about whether the housing department had been involved in
the formation of the strategy and in response it was confirmed that community
housing now sits within adult social care which will lead to efficient working and
breakdown silos. Housing stock will be used differently and be more appropriate for
people with LD and will promote their independence with the use of assistive
31

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
15 NOVEMBER 2018

B9

ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAME

technology. Further work with developers is taking place in the housing market to
enable more in-borough provision rather than sending people out of borough.
In response to a question about Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs), Ian
Dodds confirmed that 1200 people in Kingston have EHCPs and the demanding for
these is increasing annually by 9%, but this is slightly less than 11% annual increase
in demand nationally. The focus is on those with most complex needs and also to
provide interventions early for children so they can be helped to develop resilience
and independence to reduce need ahead of transferring to adult services.
RESOLVED that:
1. This Board endorses the All Age Strategy for People with Learning
disabilities;
2. This Board notes that the Strategy will be delivered via the All Age Learning
Disability Partnership Board chaired by Healthwatch Kingston;
3. Members of the Board ensure that the Strategy is reflected within their own
organisations’ strategic plans and the Strategy is shared using a joint
communications approach for alerting organisations; and
4. The suggestions and comments made above are taken forward by officers as
appropriate.
Voting: unanimously in favour
36.

SEND INSPECTION BRIEFING

Appendix D

The report, introduced by Ian Dodds, Interim Chief Executive, Achieving for Children
(AfC) and Charis Penfold, Director for Education Services, AfC, briefed the Board on
the recent Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted)
and Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection of services for Special Educational
Needs in Kingston for people age 0 to 25. The inspection took place between 17
and 21 September 2018. The full letter dated 23 October 2018 was attached at
Annex 1.
The purpose of the review was to judge the effectiveness in implementing the
disability and special educational needs reforms as set out in the Children and
Families Act 2014. As well as visiting a range of providers, meetings were held with
leaders for health, social care and education. A letter setting out the findings of
significant areas of weakness was sent to the Director of Children’s Services. The
letter identified areas for further improvement and also highlighted areas of strength.
Areas of significant weakness were identified as:


The overall poor quality and monitoring of Education, Health and Care (EHC)
plans, including contributions from health professionals

32

B10
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES




HEALTH AND WEL
15 NOVEMBER 2018

The timeliness of leaders ensuring that the annual review process and any
subsequent amendments to EHC plans are consistently made in line with the
SEN code of practice
The strategic leadership and monitoring of the CCG’s work in implementing
the 2014 reforms
To ensure that there is a productive and positive relationship between
parents and parent representatives, including a parent carer forum.

Areas of strength and good practice include:





The single point of access (SPA) and the added value of the SPA supporting
earlier identification of SEND needs and faster access to specialist support
services
Co-location of services
Early years provision, including Portage for pre-school children and
information sharing between professionals eg health visitors and nursery
Parents value the support and input of professionals

Senior officers will be meeting the Department for Education on 20 November to
discuss how the four areas of weakness will be addressed and actions being
undertaken by Achieving for Children, Kingston Clinical Commissioning Group and
Public Health were set out.
Kingston is required to submit a Written Statement of Action within 70 days of the
receipt of the letter ie by 8 January 2019. The Statement of Action will be evaluated
by Ofsted and the CQC within 10 days of receipt and Ofsted and the CQC will
formally sign off the Statement of Action for the Local area. The intention is that the
Written Sign off Statement will be brought to the next meeting of the Health and
Wellbeing Board on 31 January 2019. The Board heard that Written Statements of
Action can be lifted within 12 to 18 months by the Inspection Team and inspectors
will return to see the progress made.
The Co-Chair and other members expressed disappointment at the letter. The CoChair drew attention to the fact that families had been raising issues for some time
and these views should have been heeded earlier. She welcomed the development
of the new Parent Carer Forum and looked forward to the time when the Forum
provides feedback that services are improving. The suggestion was made that the
Forum to hold meetings in the evenings and at weekends to enable the participation
of working parents. Ian Dodds added that it was important to obtain feedback from
the wider parent/carer community, not just the Forum.
A comment was made that the report did not discuss schools or families in a strong
enough way and these perspectives need to be captured.
In response to a question about assurance that actions would be followed through,
Ian Dodds explained that the proposed Governance arrangements would provide
the required assurances. He added that the Statement of Action had not yet been
completed.

33

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
15 NOVEMBER 2018

B11
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAME

In response to a question about the quality of EHC plans, Charis Penfold confirmed
that quality assurance processes are being introduced and all the statutory
elements, including educational psychology, are now in place. Doreen Redwood
confirmed that the CCG will increase the capacity of the dedicated Medical Officer to
examines the plans and ensure there is a health contribution to these plans. Dr
Pete Smith, Children’s Champion is leading work with the Governing Body, including
a strategic review of therapies which are very important to this group and this will
provide opportunity to consider how best to joint commission services for the future.
Tonia Michaelides confirmed that the CCG has taken this very seriously and
recognised that oversight was not sufficiently strong. This has been reviewed. She
added that the CCG would look to commission additional services within the finance
resources but these may need to be considered against other demands.
A question was asked about how parents will be reassured about the steps being
taken to make the required improvements and whether meetings for parents should
be held? Tonia Michaelides advised that the CCG is not a provider of services but
has oversight in the same way as the Council. The Chair stated that an item on the
CCG Board agenda will be picking up on these areas in January. The newlyappointed interim Director of Children Services for Kingston will be focussing on
this.
The Co-Chair pointed to the imminent report from the Kingston Education
Commission and the need to address over spend including on the dedicated schools
grant. Central Government funding is now insufficient and a deficit budget may not
be set. If reserves are insufficient, then significant cuts would need to be made.
There are opportunities within a partnership collective approach to do things
differently and deliver better outcomes and it was important that schools are more
involved in this.
RESOLVED that:
1. the report and verbal information provided is noted; and
2. the Ofsted/CQC Written Sign off Statement will be brought to the next
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board on 31 January 2019
Voting: unanimously in favour
37.

GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE SEND
TRANSFORMATION PLAN

Appendix E

The report, introduced by Ian Dodds, Interim Chief Executive, Achieving for Children
(AfC), sought the Board’s endorsement for the governance arrangements for the
Kingston Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Transformation Plan
2018/19 - 2021/22, subject to approval at the Children’s and Adults’ Care and
Education Committee at its meeting on 22 November 2018.
A three year SEND Transformation Plan has been developed to respond to the
significant financial pressures facing the service as well as addressing the service
quality issues identified in the local area SEND inspection in September 2018 (see
34

B12
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES

HEALTH AND WEL
15 NOVEMBER 2018

minute 36) and will be considered by the Children and Adults Care and Education
committee on 22 November 2018.
The forecast cumulative overspend on the Dedicated Schools Grant for Kingston will
reach £13M by the end of 2018/19. The funding of high needs education provision is
a national issue and Kingston is not unique in experiencing these pressures.
However, in Kingston the rate of increase in costs for SEND is of the order of 9% pa
ie £2M pa and at this rate of increase the cost in 2022 will amount to £46M which is
an unsustainable position, exceeding the Council’s General Fund and earmarked
reserves. The objective is to ensure that the schools budget, including high needs,
stays within the existing DSG funding allocation.
Whilst the SEND Partnership Board will drive the delivery of the plan, strong
governance arrangements will be required which will also secure full engagement
from partner organisations to promote constructive debate, scrutiny and challenge.
The proposal is for the Health and Wellbeing Board to have accountability for the
SEND Transformation plan and for the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education
Committee (CACE) to have formal constitutional responsibility for the
Transformation Plan.
Following a request from Tonia Michaelides, Managing Director Kingston Clinical
Commissioning Group for lines of responsibility for partner organisations it was
agreed that KCCG would need to be represented within the governance
arrangements in addition to the Council enabling decisions appropriate to the two
organisations to be taken by those organisations. The overall direction and
accountability would be held by Health and Wellbeing Board.
In response to a question about the separation of Kingston and Richmond children’s
services under the leadership of two Directors of Children’s Services, Ian Dodds
confirmed that there would be separate transformation plans submitted to the DfE
and that the more local focus would enable the plan to be more effectively
implemented by the local SEND Partnership, including involvement of the parent
and carer community.
A comment was made that it would be helpful for proposed Partnership Board
membership to be submitted as late material to CACE committee.
RESOLVED that:
1. The Kingston Clinical Commissioning Group is included within the
governance arrangements and captured in late material for CACE committee;
and
2. The governance arrangements as amended are endorsed by the Board.
Voting: unanimously in favour

35

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
15 NOVEMBER 2018
38.

B13
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAME

HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD WORKING ARRANGEMENTS
PROPOSALS

Appendix F

The report on proposals for Working Arrangements for the Health and Wellbeing
Board was introduced by Iona Lidington Director of Public Health.
A Health and Wellbeing Board workshop was held on 5 March 2018, a summary of
proposals was considered by the Board later that month but progress was paused
due to the change in Administration in May.
Themes identified during these discussions were:




The Board should set the strategic direction of local preventative work and
priorities in health and social care
Relevant outcomes for the Board’s work are prevention of ill-health,
improvement of wellbeing and reduction in health inequalities.
The Board should not be limited to its statutory functions eg Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment.

Other suggestions put forward were:
 Direct oversight of the commissioning of local public health, NHS and/or
social care services
 Responsibility for local implementation of national and regional health and
social care policies and initiatives
 Oversight and formal decision making responsibility for a small number of
specific joint priority projects eg Kingston Co-ordinated care.
The proposal was that the Director of Public Health reviews the suggestions made in
the workshop and develop a full set of proposals for the future of the Board in
informal consultation with existing members and other partners. This will include
identifying options and associated costs for new models of governance and
reviewing evidence from the JSNA to support a priority setting process for the
reconfigured Board in 2019.
It was also proposed that the Board be chaired by a lay chair but following
discussion this suggestion was not taken forward by the Board.
RESOLVED that:
1. The Board should hold formal meetings in public in the evening and informal
daytime workshops on priority topics as closed sessions; and
2. The Director of Public Health be delegated to develop a formal set or
proposals for changes to the Board’s Terms of Reference to be agreed at a
future meeting and in line with the Constitutional Review.
Voting: unanimously in favour

36

B14
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES
39.

HEALTH AND WEL
15 NOVEMBER 2018

URGENT ITEMS AUTHORISED BY THE CHAIR
There were no urgent items.

Signed…………………………………………………….Date…………………
Chair

37

